Case #: 1032251

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON als 7/3/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK gton

Supreme Court No. (Court of Appeals No. 84748-1-I)

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# 12<sup>TH</sup> AND JOHN INVESTORS, LLC,

Appellant,

**v**.

#### BROADMARK REALTY CAPITAL INC.,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Anthony L. Rafel, WSBA No. 13194 Timothy S. Feth, WSBA No. 51275 RAFEL LAW GROUP PLLC 4126 E. Madison St. Ste. 202 Seattle, WA 98112 Main 206.838.2660 Fax 206.838.2661

Attorneys for Appellant

#

#### A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER</u>

Petitioner 12<sup>th</sup> and John Investors, LLC ("12J") asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

#### **B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

The Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's grant of summary judgment against 12J and denial of summary judgment in favor of 12J in its opinion in *12th & John Inv'rs, LLC v. Broadmark Realty Capital Inc.*, 84748-1-I, 2024 WL 2811622 (Wash. Ct. App. June 3, 2024). In so doing, the court failed to apply basic Washington law governing the summary judgment standard, contract interpretation, creation of equitable liens, and 12J's claims of tortious interference, conversion, and unjust enrichment. At crucial points in the court's analysis, it relied on novel and newly-invented standards instead of applying established law. The Court of Appeals failed to acknowledge, let alone faithfully address, 12J's arguments, instead baldly misstating and mischaracterizing 12J's position in order to more easily swat it down.

A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-60.

#### C. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

1. 12J was entitled to appellate review of the trial court's decision as a matter of right. RAP 6.1. That right was rendered meaningless when the Court of Appeals effectively abdicated its review obligation by mischaracterizing 12J's arguments and turning a blind eye to the evidence.

2. 12J appealed from the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of Respondent Broadmark Realty Capital Inc. ("Broadmark"). Yet the Court of Appeals never recites the controlling standard for review of summary judgment orders and turns the standard on its head by construing evidence in favor of Broadmark (the moving party below) and ignoring evidence and inferences favorable to 12J. In particular, central to 12J's claims in equity and tort is that Broadmark's predecessor-in-interest wrongfully interfered with 12J's interests with the intent and for the purpose of completing a lucrative merger and IPO. The relevant facts and inferences are amply supported by the record but are never even mentioned by the Court of Appeals.

3. Under the contract documents, Capitol Hill Subway, LLC ("Subway"), was required to obtain 12J's written consent prior to obtaining a loan for the development project that was the subject of the parties' agreement. If Subway did not do so, 12J was required to be paid out of the loan proceeds. Broadmark's predecessor-in-interest had actual knowledge of that obligation, but Subway failed to obtain 12J's consent and Broadmark, which controlled the disbursement of the funds and paid each of Subway's other obligations, failed to pay 12J out of the loan proceeds. *Speirs v. Jahnsen*, 143 Wn. 297, 301, 255 P. 117 (1927), holds that an equitable lien is created when an agreement "sufficiently indicates an intention to make some particular property a security for an obligation." The intent must "appear unequivocally." *Huber v. Coast Investment Co.*, **30** Wn.App. **804**, **808**, 638 P.2d **609** (1981). While paying lip service to those cases, the Court of Appeals instead frames the question as whether the creation of an equitable lien was the "only commercially reasonable" interpretation of the contract documents. Having invented a standard of its own design, untethered to decades of prior authority, the Court of Appeals fails to answer the question raised by 12J's appeal.

4. The Court of Appeals incorrectly portrays 12J's argument as: (i) 12J's equitable lien was enforceable against "any" future lender and (ii) 12J is attempting to enforce its contract with Subway against Broadmark. That is incorrect and contrary to established precedent. An equitable lien is enforceable against the parties to the contract giving rise to it and against any "incumbrancer with notice" (*Speirs v. Jahnsen*, 143 Wn. 297, 301, 255 P. 117 (1927)), which Broadmark undisputedly was.

5. The purpose of contract interpretation is to determine the objective manifestations of the parties' intent. *Healy v. Seattle Rugby, LLC*, 15 Wn.App. 2d 539, 544-45, 476 P.3d 583 (2020)). The Court of Appeals incorrectly considers whether 12J's interpretation was consistent with the documents' "titles, parties, and objectives." That newly articulated standard is found nowhere in Washington law. Its application is a radical departure from settled law that emboldens the court to reject 12J's arguments based on the mood of the documents rather than their text.

6. The Court of Appeals also errs by concluding that 12J did not identify the business expectancy that serves as the basis for its tortious interference claim. That conclusion: (a) contradicts *Admasu v. Port of Seattle*, 185 Wn.App. 23, 40, 340 P.3d 873 (2014) because Broadmark did not dispute that 12J had a valid business expectancy and so 12J was not required to defend that element; and (b) ignores that 12J clearly identified two valid business expectancies in its briefing. 7. For its unjust enrichment claim, 12J relied on *Seekamp v. Small*, 39 Wn.2d 578, 583, 237 P.2d 489 (1951), which provides the elements for a subset of unjust enrichment claims described as "money had and received." The Court of Appeals does not cite *Seekamp* or discuss the elements provided therein, despite that case's status as binding precedent. Instead, the Court of Appeals relies on a different branch of unjust enrichment law to reject arguments 12J never offered.

8. The Court of Appeals further errs by tying the viability of all three of 12J's tort claims (tortious interference, unjust enrichment, and conversion) to the equitable lien claim. The tort claims are alternative to and analytically distinct from the equitable lien claim.

#### D. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

This case arises out of development of a 51-unit condominium (the "Project") in Seattle (the "Property"). (CP

203.) The developer of the Project was Robert Hardy (CP 1548) and the Project entity was Subway.

Broadmark is the product of a special purpose acquisition company ("SPAC") merger of an operating business into a publicly traded shell company. The operating business was a "hard-money" lender consisting of four lending funds and four management companies that controlled them. (CP 1595). The management companies were owned and controlled by founders Joseph Schocken and Jeffrey Pyatt and executives Adam Fountain, Joanne VanSickle, and Bryan Graf. (CP 233, 1588, 1752-1753). Daniel Hirsty, a financial analyst who became chief credit officer for Broadmark, later acquired an ownership interest as well. (CP 1137-1138.) The lending funds were named Pyatt Broadmark Real Estate Lending Fund I, LLC ("PBRELF"), Broadmark Real Estate Lending Fund II, and so on. (CP 1588.) PBRELF was controlled by Pyatt Broadmark Management, LLC ("PBM"). (CP 164:2, 148-155.)

Efforts to find a merger partner began in 2018 (CP 1474-1475) and ended in November 2019 when PBRELF and PBM merged into Trinity Merger Corp., a publicly traded company, which was renamed "Broadmark Realty Capital Inc." (CP 724.) The merger made the control group fabulously wealthy. (CP 1381-1382, 1519-1520, 1528-1529).

Hardy had borrowed money from PBRELF/PBM on previous projects (CP1500, 1591, 1448) and in 2016 approached Graf about a construction loan for the Subway Project. PBM declined the loan as too large. (CP1530, 1735.) Hardy arranged a \$10.9 million loan from Trez Capital, secured by a deed of trust on the Property. (CP1142, 197.)

Subway also obtained other financing, including \$3.2 million in preferred equity financing, which was arranged by Broadmark Capital, LLC ("Broadmark Capital"), Broadmark's Schocken-owned, broker-dealer affiliate. (CP 195-201, 913, 1746-1747.)

Broadmark Capital formed 12J in February 2016. (CP 195.) Adam Fountain, a managing director at Broadmark Capital who became Broadmark's Executive Vice President after the merger, oversaw preparation of the investment documents. (CP 1471, 189, 1479.)<sup>1</sup> 12J was structured by Broadmark Capital as a manager-managed LLC, with Schocken as the sole manager.<sup>2</sup> (CP 195-201, 202-203, 208-230.)

In exchange for the \$3.2 million investment, Subway issued "Preferred Member Units" to 12J. The transaction was memorialized in a February 2016 Preferred Equity Investment Agreement (the "Agreement"), which attached and incorporated an Amendment to the Capitol Hill Subway, LLC Operating Agreement (the "Amendment"). (CP 197, 897-961, 963-977.) Under the agreement, Subway was required to redeem 12J's Preferred Units for \$3.2 million plus a preferred return on August

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Broadmark Capital, LLC was later renamed Tranceka Capital, LLC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Technically, the manager was 12J Management LLC, of which Schocken was the sole member. Fountain, Graf and Hirsty assisted Schocken in managing 12J (CP 1592, 1422, 1537-1538).

31, 2018. (CP 940.) If Subway defaulted, 12J could exercise default remedies. (CP 903-06, 967-71.)

Wholly apart from the default remedies, the Agreement and Amendment both provided that if Subway's loan was refinanced or modified without 12J's express prior written consent, 12J would be paid in full out of the loan proceeds.

The provision in the Agreement stated:

7.1 (a) <u>Prohibited Transfers.</u> ... Unless and until the Redemption Price or the Early Redemption Price, as applicable, is paid in full **out of the proceeds** of any such transaction, Company shall not, without the express prior written consent of Investor cause, permit, or consent to the sale, transfer, encumbrance, pledge or other disposition of the Property, or any portion thereof, or to any change in the direct or indirect ownership of Company.

(CP 901, emphasis added.) The parallel provision in the

Amendment stated:

7. So long as any Preferred Member Units remain outstanding, without the written consent of Preferred Member, Company shall not: ...(b) either ...(iv) finance or refinance the Property and the operations of Company and enter into, amend or modify the terms and conditions of any loan obtained by Company, including the Senior Loan (if any), other than to the extent (A) the proceeds

## of such financing or refinancing are used to redeem in full the outstanding Preferred Member Units ....

(CP 971-72; emphasis added.)

Broadmark knew that the Agreement required 12J's written consent before the loan could be refinanced, both because its executive, Fountain, prepared the documents and because it was advised of the consent requirement by 12J's counsel in 2017 when Subway increased the Trez loan. (CP 1136-41, 1386-1387, 1428.)<sup>1</sup>

Soon after the Trez increase, the Project fell behind schedule. (CP 1439-1442.) Trez declined to loan more money. In April 2018, however, the PBM "Investment Committee" consisting of Schocken, Pyatt, and Fountain decided that *Broadmark* would provide financing through PBRELF. (CP 1434, 1489.) PBRELF became the lender and PBM acted as loan broker. (CP 203.) The loan amount was increased to \$14.3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Schocken executed a written consent to the Trez loan increase on behalf of 12J. (CP 1142.)

million. (CP 266.) At closing, PBRELF/PBM received a loan origination fee of \$200,298, prepaid interest reserves of \$182,000, and a service fee of \$50,074 (CP 350-53, 406), together with a first position deed of trust (CP 262).

Broadmark's loan to Subway created a severe conflict of interest. As 12J's manager, Schocken relied heavily on Broadmark executives. (CP 1592, 1597.) Schocken was also the CEO of PBRELF and a manager of PBM (CP 1588, 233), which were run by the same executives. (CP 233, 1472-1474.) Schocken and Broadmark knowingly put themselves in the position of serving two masters – PBRELF and 12J – both of which sought payment from the Project. The conflict was "obvious" to Broadmark due to the lack of an "arm's length counterparty." (CP 1439-1442, 1508-1509.)

Despite the obvious conflict of interest, and the Agreement's provisions requiring 12J's prior written consent, Broadmark did not seek and 12J did not provide written consent to the PBRELF refinance. (CP 1041, 1398-1399, 1410, 1732-1733, 1390, 1398-1399, 1447, 1493-94, 1544-1545, 1557-1558).

Nothing was paid to 12J out of the loan proceeds (CP 1390, 1399, 1466, 1558), nor was the transaction even disclosed to the 12J investor group.

Two months later, Broadmark refinanced the loan again, raising the amount to \$17.6 million. (CP 499-642.) This time, PBRELF/PBM received at closing a loan origination fee of \$352,300, a servicing fee of \$88,075, and \$887,500 in prepaid interest reserves. (CP 568, 575-578, 579, 600, 629, 1398-1399, 1447, 1514-1515.) Broadmark's conflict of interest was "embedded" at this point. (CP 1443:13-15.) Again, written consent from 12J was not sought or obtained. (CP 1514-1515, 1398-1399, 1447, 1042.)

Broadmark worked up plans to pay 12J out of the refinance, in the form of a recapitalization to "cash out" 12J. (CP 1146, 1444-1445.) In July 2018, just before the second refinance, 12J's attorney Phil Roberts wrote to Graf, stating: "my

13

understanding is that we will redeem the 12<sup>th</sup> and John interest in Capitol Hill Subway ...." (CP 1157.)

But Broadmark did *not* redeem 12J out of the loan proceeds. Broadmark controlled the loan proceeds, earmarked the funds for Subway, held them in a Broadmark account (CP 1516, 1554, 1549-1551) and paid Subway's other creditors (CP 1164-1170, 1449, 1450-1451, 1453-1454). Broadmark did not pay 12J out of the loan proceeds. (CP 1399, 1466, 407, 629.)

Nor did Broadmark, which controlled all Project funds, redeem 12J on August 31, 2018. In the event of default, 12J, "as the Preferred Member, ha[d] a number of 'scorched earth' remedies (e.g., forcing the Company to sell the Project, taking ownership of the Project, purchasing the junior membership interests)." (CP 1150.) 12J also had the right to enforce Hardy's personal guaranty. (CP 197.) Yet, when Subway defaulted on August 31, 2018, 12J manager Schocken took no action to enforce any of 12J's rights or remedies. (CP 1400-1401, 1417.) In December 2018, attorney Roberts finally put Subway on notice that it was in default to 12J. (CP 1305-1306.) But he never enforced any of 12J's remedies against Subway or Hardy. (CP 1400-1403, 1406, 1417.)

In December 2018, concerned with Hardy's performance, Graf and Schocken installed loyal Broadmark consultant Paul Birney to act as "lender's rep" to manage the sale of condo units, and directed escrow in writing to remit all sale proceeds to Broadmark. (CP 1376, 1307, 1601, 184.) In February 2019, Schocken removed Hardy from management entirely (CP 1135), giving Broadmark a trifecta of control – over the lender, the equity investor, and the project entity (CP 202, 1370, 1372, 1376, 184).

In January 2019, Schocken was candid internally that the "[i]nvestors are in real trouble" (CP 1373-1374), yet Broadmark continued to send them optimistic projections. (CP 824-829, 1164, 1376 (stating that sales of condo units represented "excellent results" brought about by Broadmark's "excellent

15

work" and the sales team's "excellent job" on a project that was experiencing "excellent progress.")) It was not until June 2019 that Broadmark euphemistically informed investors their equity had "eroded" (CP 1189-1190), and not until July that they admitted nothing would be paid to anyone other than Broadmark (CP 1188-1189).

In connection with the merger and IPO, PBRELF and PBM were required to make financial disclosures. (*E.g.*, CP 1487-1488, 1381-1382.) Their financial condition depended in part on three outstanding loans to Hardy, totaling over \$51 million. (CP 1314.) A default on one loan would have cross-defaulted the other loans (CP 1459), putting PBRELF's loan portfolio and the merger in jeopardy. To forestall that, Broadmark utilized loan modifications to cure Subway's defaults internally and make Subway's loan appear to be performing normally. (CP 1196-1198, 1202, 1578-1581.) This papered over Subway's defaults and protected the IPO, while profiting Broadmark and its principals for each modification.

Subway's loan greatly exceeded PBRELF's 65% loan-tovalue ceiling but Broadmark excused the violation. (CP 1202-1203.) Subway defaulted but Broadmark did not declare default. (CP 192, 1196, 1456-1457.) Instead, Broadmark "juice[d] PBM's returns" to present a stronger balance sheet. (CP 1584-1585). Their singular focus was to "avoid screwing up" an IPO that was going to put \$139 million in the pockets of five principals. (CP 1323, 1381-1382, 1519-1520, 1528-1529.)

In September 2019, 12J investors with a supermajority interest, removed Schocken as 12J's manager, terminated Roberts as 12J's attorney, and filed a derivative action to collect on Hardy's personal guaranty.<sup>1</sup> (CP 39-42). After receiving the complaint, Fountain emailed Schocken, stating: "Hopefully none of our [Broadmark] entities are named in this potential lawsuit as it would have to be disclosed in the [SPAC] transaction." (CP

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 12J obtained a default judgment for \$8.5 million. Hardy later filed bankruptcy and the debt was discharged.

1323, 1518-1519.) Schocken replied, "we need to be sensitive to our pending transaction." (CP 1323.)

Their sensitivity paid off. In addition to the fortunes the individual executives reaped from the merger, Broadmark itself was paid in full on its Subway loan, receiving over \$17.9 million. (CP 1463-1464.) 12J received nothing. (CP 335.)

12J filed this action in December 2020 seeking a declaratory judgment of its lien rights under the Agreement and money damages for tortious interference with its contractual relationship with Subway, conversion, and unjust enrichment. In September 2022, 12J filed a motion for partial summary judgment declaring its rights under the Agreement (CP 873-893); Broadmark filed a motion for summary judgment seeking dismissal of 12J's complaint. (CP 156-187.) After three hearings, and noting its "significant vacillation," the trial court denied 12J's motion and granted Broadmark's.

12J appealed and the Court of Appeals affirmed.

#### E. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

## 1. Evidence and Inferences Must Be Considered in Light Most Favorable to 12J

Summary judgment orders are reviewed "de novo, considering the evidence and all reasonable inferences from the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Keck v. Collins*, 184 Wn.2d 358, 370, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015).

The Court of Appeals' failure to consider evidence and inferences in 12J's favor manifests in myriad ways. The most impactful is the complete erasure of Broadmark's conflicted, inequitable, and tortious actions surrounding its merger and IPO. The effect on the court's legal analysis is most notable in two places.

First, while discussing equitable considerations, the court acknowledges that "equitable claims must be analyzed under the specific facts presented in each case" (quoting *Vasquez v. Hawthorne*, 145 Wn.2d 103, 107-08, 33 P.3d 735 (2001)), and that "equity is defined as '[f]airness; impartiality; evenhanded dealing .... The body of principles constituting what is fair and right" (quoting *Delagrave v. Emp. Sec. Dep't*, 127 Wn.App. 596, 612, 111 P.3d 879 (2005)). (Appx. A-12.) But the court wholly fails to apply those standards. It starts by mischaracterizing 12J's position, incorrectly stating that "the first predicate... is that [12J's] agreement with [Subway] granted it a right to enforce certain... terms against... a company that was not a party to" the agreement. (Appx. A-11.) In reality, 12J seeks to enforce an equitable lien on unconsented-to loan proceeds against Broadmark, an incumbrancer with notice. 12J does not seek to enforce any contract against Broadmark.

The court next decries 12J's position as unfair to Broadmark, concluding that enforcing the equitable lien against it does not "appear remotely equitable." (Appx. A-15.) That conclusion ignores the facts and inferences on which 12J's equity arguments rely, including:

> i. Broadmark oversaw preparation of 12J's formation documents in 2016 (CP 1471, 189, 1479) and therefore had actual knowledge of Subway's

> > 20

obligations, including the obligation to either obtain 12J's written consent to a refinance or redeem it out of the loan proceeds;

- Broadmark pursued a merger and public IPO in 2018 (CP 1474-1475) that would make its executives tens of millions of dollars (CP 1381-1382, 1519-1520, 1528-1529);
- iii. Broadmark denied Subway's request for a loan in 2016 because it was too large (CP 1530, 1735), but in 2018 it twice approved larger loans to Subway (CP 1434, 1489, 499-642), giving rise to the reasonable inference that Broadmark was motivated to keep the project afloat to protect its merger transaction;
- iv. Broadmark blew its own internal limits on the size of the Subway loan and, when Subway defaulted, kept the default quiet (CP 1202-1203, 1192, 1196, 1456-1457), decisions which are easily explained by the fact that it would have had to disclose defaults to its merger partner (CP 1487-1488, 1381-1382), jeopardizing the transaction;
- v. Broadmark created 12J and Broadmark founder Schocken controlled it from its inception (CP 195-203, 208-230) and failed to timely pursue Subway and Hardy for defaults (CP 1400-1403, 1406, 1417), which would have interfered with the Project and jeopardized the Broadmark executives' personal profit from the merger/IPO transaction;
- vi. Broadmark controlled Project finances and paid all of Subway's debts except those owing to 12J (CP 1516, 1554, 1549-1551, 1164-1170, 1449, 1450-1454), supporting the reasonable inference that

Broadmark sacrificed 12J's interests for the benefit of Broadmark and its executives.

These facts and inferences are obviously relevant to a determination of what is "evenhanded, fair and right given the facts of the matter" (Appx. A-12), but the court completely ignores them, not once mentioning Broadmark's merger or its executives' obvious motive to steamroll 12J's rights for the sake of their own greed. It is hard to imagine a situation in which an equitable lien would be more justified.

The second place the court's failure to consider facts and inferences in 12J's favor is impactful is discussed at §E.6, below. Each time the court failed to consider the evidence and all reasonable inferences from the evidence in the light most favorable to 12J was a violation of this Court's precedent, including *Keck v. Collins*, supra.

# 2. Equitable Lien Must Be "Clear" and "Unequivocal"

Section 7.1 of the Agreement and Section 7 of the Amendment create an equitable lien in favor of 12J.

The rule in general that every express executory agreement in writing, whereby the contracting party sufficiently indicates an intention to make some particular property a security for an obligation, creates an equitable lien upon the property so indicated, enforceable not only as between the parties, but also as to incumbrancers with notice. Nor is it necessary that the contract be in express terms a security. It is enough if it clearly appears from the contract as a whole that security was intended, for equity will imply a security without express recital, if, from the nature of the contract, it clearly appears that such was the intention of the parties.

Speirs v. Jahnsen, 143 Wash. 297, 300–01, 255 P. 117, 118 (1927). The Agreement and Amendment required 12J to be redeemed out of the loan proceeds, unless 12J's prior written consent was obtained for additional financing for the Project. The documents are clear and unequivocal on that point.

The Court of Appeals frames the analysis as whether the "only commercially reasonable" interpretation of the documents is that the parties intended to create an equitable lien (Appx. A-16, 27) and even characterizes 12J's argument in those terms (*id.* at A-11, 15-16), contrary to 12J's briefing. Nor does the court

engage in a proper textual analysis, instead focusing on nebulous concepts like "titles, parties, and objectives."

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