FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/6/2024 3:44 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1032251 (Court of Appeals No. 84748-1)

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

12TH AND JOHN INVESTORS, LLC,

Appellant,

v.

BROADMARK REALTY CAPITAL INC.,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Malaika M. Eaton, WSBA No. 32837 Theresa M. DeMonte, WSBA No. 43994 Charles Wittmann-Todd, WSBA No. 54229 MCNAUL EBEL NAWROT & HELGREN PLLC 600 University Street, Suite 2700 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 467-1816

Attorneys for Respondent

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

- A. The Contracts Do Not Show Unequivocal Intent to Create a Lien
 - 1. Equitable liens require unequivocal intent to create a lien, which is not present here.

Parties must "unequivocally" intend to create a lien before an equitable lien will be applied. *Huber v. Coast Inv.*

Co., Inc., 30 Wn. App. 804, 808–09, 638 P.2d 609 (1981) ("The intent may be derived from the express language of the agreement or by necessary implication, but it must appear unequivocally.").

of any refinances that occurred without formal documentation memorializing 12J's actual consent. Pet. 25. 12J claims that "[t]he Agreement and the Amendment both provided that if Subway's loan was refinanced or modified without 12J's express prior written consent, 12J would be paid in full out of the loan proceeds." Pet. 10. Without explanation or analysis, 12J claims that these provisions are, for some reason, "[w]holly apart" from the default remedies set forth in the two contracts. *Id*.

This is incorrect. Neither the Agreement nor

Amendment provide that 12J must be repaid from loan

proceeds to which it did not appropriately document its actual

consent. Instead, these documents provide, at most, that any

requirement to formally document consent is entirely excused if 12J was redeemed as a result of the transaction. Second, even if 12J were correct (it is not), this would not create a lien as a matter of law.

12J points to two provisions it claims give rise to an equitable lien: Section 7.1 of the Agreement and Section 7(b)(iv) of the Amendment. Even assuming these provisions applied, they do *not* state that the remedy for failure to obtain formal documentation of consent is that 12J can foreclose on the proceeds of any loan, jumping ahead of secured lenders whose construction loans undoubtedly come with a host of conditions and must be used to fund specified construction certainly not to redeem an unsecured equity investor. Indeed, the contracts do not even specify what the "proceeds" are. Are they the excess after all secured loans and unsecured claims? Are they the profit returning from a sale of the property? To what would a lien attach? These unanswered questions are proof that "unequivocal" intent does not exist.

12J's reading runs counter to the default and remedies provisions in the Amendment. Under the Amendment, any failure to perform any obligation or make a payment when due constitutes a default by Subway. CP 967. Remedies available to 12J under Amendment Section 6(e) include its option to trigger a sale of the property. CP 970. But if such a sale were triggered, the Amendment explicitly requires all secured lenders to be paid before 12J—a result inconsistent with 12J's purported "lien." CP 971 (§ 6(e)(iii)).

The default and remedies provisions make no exception for refinances lacking formal documentation of actual consent. Such an exception would be required to show unequivocal intent to create a lien. If, in the event of a sale (a remedy for any default) 12J will be paid last under the Amendment, how can it be that, in the case of a default resulting from a refinance without formal documentation of consent, 12J was somehow entitled to be paid *first* as it claims?

The same result holds if the property were sold or operated as a completed apartment complex or condominium without 12J enforcing a default remedy. Under Amendment Section 3(a)(ii), 12J may be paid from "cash generated by the operations or sale of the Property" but any secured lender must be paid first. CP 965 (excluding cash used to pay amounts due under "a Senior Loan," defined to mean "any third party indebtedness secured by a mortgage or deed of trust," CP 975, from amounts distributed to 12J). If the agreements require Subway to pay secured creditors (like PBRELF) first when either selling or operating the property, even if there had been a default, how could those agreements show an unequivocal intent to create an equitable lien in 12J's favor, particularly one (as 12J contends), which is *superior* to the interests of secured creditors like PBRELF? 12J's reasoning fails.

In sum, nothing in the Agreement or Amendment indicates an "unequivocal" intent to create a lien, and Agreement Section 7.1 and Amendment Section 7(b)(iv) must

also be harmonized with Amendment Sections 3(a)(ii) and 6(e)(ii), which clearly contemplate that 12J will be paid after secured lenders.

2. The Court of Appeals applied the proper standard.

12J claims that the Court of Appeals "violated the existing body of equitable lien law" teaching that an equitable lien will not be found unless the intent to create a lien is clear and unequivocal. Pet. 22–24. But in affirming the trial court's conclusion that there is no equitable lien, the Court of Appeals held that 12J failed to establish that the parties "unequivocally intended to subject the specific loan proceeds in question to an equitable lien in [12J's] benefit." Op. 45. This holding is consistent with the precedent that 12J claims the Court of Appeals disregarded.

Despite the Court of Appeals' holding, 12J untenably contends that instead of applying the clear and unequivocal

standard,³ the Court of Appeals employed a "newly minted" test. In truth, the Court of Appeals reasoned that 12J's "proposed interpretation" that the documents create a lien is "far from clear and unequivocal," because 12J's reading is "plainly *not* a commercially reasonable interpretation," unlike BRC's interpretation, which *is* commercially reasonable. Op. 53–54. In sum, 12J is bickering over pure semantics, not substance.

Of course, if 12J's interpretation is not even commercially reasonable, it stands to reason it is not clear and unequivocal, as the law requires before finding an equitable lien. Likewise, if BRC's interpretation *is* commercially reasonable, then 12J's opposing interpretation cannot be "clear" or "unequivocal" as required. 12J never explains how the Court of Appeals' use of the phrase "commercially reasonable" is at

³ The Court of Appeals peppered its opinion with the clear and unequivocal standard, Op. 10, 41, 43, 44, 47, 49, 53, contrary to 12J's contention that it ignored this standard, Pet. 22–24.

odds with the "unequivocal" standard entrenched in precedent. If anything, "commercially reasonable" is a lens that is *more* favorable to 12J than the unequivocal standard. Regardless, because the Court of Appeals applied the correct standard, its decision does not conflict with this Court's precedent or its own, and there is no basis for discretionary review under RAP 13.4.

12J never explains how the hodgepodge list of what it describes as "inferences" the Court should have made, *see* Pet. 19–22, would be material for purposes of summary judgment when, as a matter of law, there was no clear and unequivocal intent to create an equitable lien. And 12J's claim that the Court of Appeals somehow violated RAP 6.1 (Pet. 27, 31)—which is in any event wrong—does not create a basis for discretionary review under RAP 13.4, nor does 12J attempt to argue for review under any of RAP 13.4's other tests.

B. The Court of Appeals Did Not Overlook a Business Expectancy

viable business expectancies, arguing that BRC never challenged the first two elements of the tortious interference claims. Pet. 24–26. This is false. Because BRC's motion pointed to 12J's lack of evidence supporting its claims, CP 160, the burden shifted to 12J to support each element of its claims and show that issues of genuine material fact remained for trial, *Zonnebloem v. Blue Bay Holdings, LLC*, 200 Wn. App. 178, 183, 401 P.3d 468 (2017) (noting that moving party can meet its "burden by showing that there is an absence of evidence to support" its opponent's case). Regardless, the expectancies identified by 12J do not support a claim.

Because there is no equitable lien, that non-existent "expectancy" cannot give rise to a tortious interference claim.

And 12J never argued below that its contractual interest in being paid on the redemption date gave rise to a tortious

interference claim. App. Br. 55–67. The brief mention of the right to be paid on the redemption date in an issue statement, App. Br. 3, fails to constitute an argument supported by citation and analysis, and the Court of Appeals concluded that it would not consider any such unsupported arguments under RAP 10.3(a)(6). Op. 55. 12J does not even attempt to show that this conclusion is inconsistent with precedent, and there is thus no basis for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b).

Moreover, the unrebutted evidence was that Subway paid its secured lenders first, and there was no profit remaining to pay back 12J's investment. CP 1356–57. This failure to make a profit was caused by market conditions and Hardy's mismanagement; 12J presented no evidence or argument that such was caused by any actions of BRC, and its claims therefore fail.

C. Summary Judgment Was Properly Granted on the Unjust Enrichment Claim

12J faults the Court of Appeals for purportedly applying what 12J characterizes as an "ad hoc" unjust enrichment standard inconsistent with *Davenport v. Wash. Educ. Ass'n*, 147 Wn. App. 704, 197 P.3d 686 (2008), and *Seekamp v. Small*, 39 Wn.2d 578, 237 P.2d 489 (1951). According to 12J, a theory of unjust enrichment based on the "branch" of "money had and received" does not require that 12J lose something it was entitled to and that BRC have been unjustly enriched as a result. *See* Pet. 26–29.

But *Davenport* makes clear that unjust enrichment sounds in restitution and "requires only that the transferee have received *the property of another* under circumstances that result in the transferee's 'unjust enrichment.'" 147 Wn. App. at 726 (emphasis added). In the same vein, *Seekamp* explains that the gist of an action for money had and received exists where "the defendant has received money which in equity and good

conscience should have been paid to the plaintiff." 39 Wn.2d at 584; see also Earley v. Rooney, 49 Wn.2d 222, 227, 299 P.2d 209 (1956) ("An action for money had and received may be maintained against one who has money in his hands which he is not entitled to retain as against the plaintiff[.]"). Thus, both Davenport and Seekamp require that the plaintiff have suffered some loss of an entitlement.

Here, 12J points only to BRC's having been paid its own money back according to the terms of Subway's secured loan.

Pet. 28. Because that money was not 12J's property, there was no unjust enrichment. As 12J fails to show any conflict between the Court of Appeals decision and binding precedent, there is no basis for discretionary review under RAP 13.4.

D. 12J's Tort Claims Fail

12J's contention that the tort claims (tortious interference, unjust enrichment, and conversion) are somehow distinct from its equitable lien claim is baseless. As explained above in Parts IV.B and C, the tortious interference and unjust

enrichment claims fail. And 12J conceded at oral argument that if there is no equitable lien, the conversion claim falls:

Judge Birk: Is the same true of your conversion claim? If we don't agree that there's a security interest created by the language you refer to, do you still have a conversion claim?

Counsel: No, your honor. The conversion claim drops out.

Wash. Ct. App. oral argument, No. 84748-1-I (Jan. 17, 2024), at 22:15–22:30, available at https://tvw.org/video/division-1-court-of-appeals-2024011375/?eventID=2024011375. 12J fails to explain how the Court of Appeals' accepting this concession could create a basis for discretionary review by this Court. And, of course, it cannot.

Regardless, BRC does not dispute that 12J had a contractual right against Subway to be receive the redemption price on the redemption date of August 31, 2018. But the senior loan extended to Subway to build the properties was secured by the property, and secured lenders receiving the payment they were entitled to ahead of 12J—even assuming

they were aware that 12J had an unsecured contractual right to be paid—simply is not tortious. Accepting 12J's argument would mean that secured lenders could face liability for being repaid before unsecured lenders, a construction that turns the law on its head. 12J fails to explain how rejecting this proposition violates established precedent, and review under RAP 13.4 should be denied.

E. Review Is Not Warranted Where Multiple Alternative Bases for Affirmance Exist

As explained above, 12J fails to argue for discretionary review under RAP 13.4. Regardless, review should be denied because alternative bases exist to affirm, as BRC explained on appeal. The fact that 12J through Schocken *actually consented* to the refinances (which were necessary to keep the project afloat and attempt to avoid a certain loss) is a complete defense to 12J's claims. Resp. Br. 11–13, 25–31.

And 12J cannot show damages resulting from BRC's loans because it cannot show that, but for these loans, 12J

would have been paid. Indeed, the opposite is true: the refinances provided a glimmer of hope that a failing project that the prior lender was threatening to foreclose on might succeed. Resp. Br. 54, 63–64. Without that loan, 12J's complete loss was assured, and 12J never attempted to prove otherwise on summary judgment. *See id.* Review is unjustified in these circumstances.

V. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review.

* * *

This document contains 4,993 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.